THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM COLLETON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Maité Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2012-CP-15-00262
Appellate Case No. 2013-002555

Melissa Jean Marks,Appellant,

Old South Mortgage Corporation, John Does v.
1-100, Nationstar Mortgage, LLC, Defendants,
Of whom Nationstar Mortgage, LLC, is the.....

.....Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED

MAR 19 2014

SC Court of Appeals

Melissa Jean Marks.
209 Presidential Court
Round O, SC 29474
(843) 599-3156
mjmarks68@hotmail.com

Appellant/Plaintiff *Pro Se*

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM COLLETON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FAILING TO FOLLOW THE LAW OF THE CASE THAT NATIONSTAR DID NOT HAVE STANDING TO MOVE TO DISMISS THE CASE AND OTHER PARTIES AND THE QUESTIONED TRANSFER OF THE INTEREST IN THE NOTE AND MORTGAGE SHOULD BE SUBJECT TO AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING?
2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FAILING TO ACKNOWLEDGE OR DETERMINE WHETHER NATIONSTAR COMMITTED FRAUD OR ILLEGALITY AFFECTING THE INSTRUMENT WHICH BARRED IT AS A MATTER OF LAW FROM OBTAINING THE RIGHTS OF A HOLDER IN DUE COURSE BY VIRTUE OF POSSESSION?
3. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FAILING TO FIND NATIONSTAR LACKS STANDING TO DEEND THE ACTION AS A MATTER OF LAW?
4. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING PLAINTIFF LACKS STANDING TO BRING THE ACTION?
5. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING PLAINTIFF'S CAUSES OF ACTION ARE BARRED BY JUDICIAL ESTOPPEL?
6. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING PLAINTIFF'S CAUSES OF ACTION ARE BARRED BY RES JUDICATA?
7. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FAILING TO ACKNOWLEDGE OR DETERMINE WHETHER NATIONSTAR PRODUCED INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE DECISIONS TO GRANT NATIONSTAR'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND TO DENY PLAINTIFF'S MOTION TO DISMISS NATIONSTAR?
8. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FAILING TO ACKNOWLEDGE OR DETERMINE WHETHER BIFURCATION OF ISSUES WOULD PERMIT PLAINTIFF'S ACTION TO PROCEED TO JUDGMENT ON THE MERITS AS TO WHETHER ILLEGAL ACTS RENDER THE NOTE AND MORTGAGE INVALID AND UNENFORCEABLE AS A MATTER OF LAW?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 6, 2012, the Appellant/Plaintiff *Pro Se*, Melissa Jean Marks, (“Plaintiff”) filed a declaratory judgment complaint and petition for injunctive relief against the originator of a note and mortgage, Old South Mortgage Corporation (“Old South”), alleging the instruments are invalid and unenforceable on the grounds of fraudulent misrepresentations of material facts, fraudulent or illegal acts, and unconscionable mortgage contract. Old South filed an answer on May 3, 2012 but has had very minimal involvement in defending the action since.

Plaintiff alleged in her complaint that she had not received actual notice of who currently owns the mortgage, there are no lawful owners, and Old South, a dissolved domestic corporation since 2008, is the only lien holder of record recognized by the county register of deeds with no assignments having been recorded according to a report of Edisto Title Services and the clerks at the register of deeds. Plaintiff identified all known parties who may claim to own the mortgage in her complaint, and she also named as defendants John Does 1-100 and Fictitious Corporations 1-100, which she intended to represent all persons and entities that may claim to have an interest and whose identities may be difficult or impossible to ascertain with a reasonable degree of certainty.

In May 2012, Nationstar Mortgage, LLC (“Nationstar”) intervened in the action claiming to be the owner of the note and mortgage and real party in interest, which Plaintiff opposed on the grounds that the evidence she had obtained showed that Nationstar is a Fannie Mae servicer, it is not the owner of the mortgage and does not have standing to defend. Nationstar claimed that Plaintiff had incorrectly referred to

Nationstar as the servicer, that Nationstar was not merely servicing but was the legal holder of the note. (R. p. 526)

On July 18, 2012, Nationstar presented the alleged original note to the court at the hearing on its motion to intervene and claimed that Nationstar had purchased the note from Flagstar Bank ("Flagstar"), Flagstar had endorsed the note in blank to Nationstar, and Nationstar is a necessary party that must be joined pursuant to Rule 24(a), SCRCF and S.C. Code Ann. 15-53-80 (1976). (R. pp. 1,225-1,226)

Nationstar ignored the documentary evidence Plaintiff submitted before and during the hearing proving Fannie Mae's involvement (R. pp. 508-510; 512; 1,231, lines 4-19) and proceeded to omit Fannie Mae from the chain of title when the court asked Nationstar for the history of the paper. (R. p. 1,226, lines 16-25) Nationstar did not state on the record that it was seeking to intervene to protect or defend any other party's interest but its own. In fact, Nationstar requested to be substituted for all defendants in its motion, which the court denied. (R. pp. 6; 478; 1,228, lines 16-21) The court decided that Nationstar did not have standing to dismiss other parties or Plaintiff's case, and since Plaintiff questioned the transfer of the interest, that matter should be subject to an evidentiary hearing and not done on a motion for intervention. (R. pp. 1,238, lines 23-25; 1,239, lines 1-5)

Accordingly, the court granted Nationstar's motion to intervene by Order entered on August 2, 2012, which was based on its claim of ownership as stated in that Order at page 2 (R. p. 5), and ordered that Nationstar be joined as a defendant and file an answer to the complaint within 30 days. The court also granted Plaintiff's motion to continue

hearing on her motion for summary judgment and motion for leave to amend her motion for summary judgment upon receipt of Nationstar's answer.

Plaintiff later explained to the court that Nationstar raised arguments in its answer that are not addressed in her motion for summary judgment, and she planned to file an amended motion, if possible, upon completion of discovery. Since Plaintiff's motion for summary judgment was still pending on the court's motions roster, the motion was set for hearings that had to be removed or continued, so Plaintiff withdrew the motion to resolve the scheduling issue. She would not have withdrawn her motion if Nationstar's motion had been denied, and her motion would have been heard on July 18, 2012 instead.

On October 4, 2012, Nationstar definitively reversed its position by responding under oath in its answers to Plaintiff's interrogatories that Fannie Mae is the owner of the note and mortgage. (R. p. 1,311) Consequently, on October 15, 2012, Plaintiff filed a motion for leave to amend complaint seeking leave of the court to amend her complaint to add Fannie Mae as a defendant, to remove and dismiss without prejudice John Does 1-100 and Fictitious Corporations 1-100, so she could serve Fannie Mae with a summons and her original complaint. (R. pp. 674-705) Since Nationstar opposed Plaintiff's motion to amend, the motion was heard on January 28, 2013, and Plaintiff's motion to compel Nationstar to completely answer her discovery requests was also heard on the same date. (R. pp. 1,244-1,282)

On February 27, 2013, the court's Orders denying both of Plaintiff's motions were entered, and her motion for reconsideration was denied by Order entered on April 9, 2013 because the court believed Nationstar's erroneous claim that Plaintiff did not have

standing to bring the action and only the trustee in her pending Chapter 13 bankruptcy case has standing to bring the action. (R. pp. 17-18)

Nevertheless, because Nationstar opposed it, the court subsequently denied Plaintiff's motion to defer ADR conference, which Plaintiff had filed and was heard prior to her receiving the court's decision on her motion for reconsideration. (R. pp. 19-20) In doing so, the court ignored Plaintiff's argument that she was trying to add Fannie Mae pursuant to the court's statements at the first hearing that the court wanted all necessary parties and information from everybody, and Fannie Mae had not been served with the complaint. (R. p. 1,238, lines 1-14)

The court also ignored the fact that at Nationstar's insistence, the court had just determined Plaintiff did not have standing to bring the action, which implied she would not have standing to settle it at mediation either. The court also ignored the fact that no evidentiary hearing had been held to determine what, if any, specific rights and interest Nationstar had in the instruments because, at that point in time, Plaintiff was reasonably seeking the necessary discovery responses from Nationstar to establish or disprove that with a higher degree of certainty. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the court denied Plaintiff's motion for reconsideration and then ordered the parties to attend mediation within 30 days. The parties attended mediation on April 25, 2013 at the office of the court-appointed mediator, Elbert O. Duffie, III, which was unproductive.

Plaintiff made extensive efforts trying to persuade the court that she had standing to bring the action and her bankruptcy filings are not intended and do not waive or adversely affect or bar any of her causes of action but was unable to overcome the

prejudicial impact of the court's Order denying her motion to amend and the findings therein. Consequently, in the Orders entered on October 9, 2013, the court denied Plaintiff's motion to dismiss Nationstar from the action with prejudice and granted Nationstar's motion for summary judgment dismissing her case on the grounds her causes of action are barred by *judicial estoppel* and *res judicata* due to her bankruptcy filings. (R. pp. 21-32)

In Plaintiff's pleadings, she alleged that both Fannie Mae and Nationstar had committed fraud or illegality affecting the instrument and therefore cannot obtain the rights of a holder in due course by virtue of possession after the fact as a matter of law. (R. pp. 1,049-1,059) Plaintiff further alleged that neither of the note endorsements are credible evidence that a lawful transfer of the note and mortgage has ever taken place. (R. pp. 1,060-1,062) Plaintiff cited to substantial law, facts and evidence in support, all of which was ignored. Plaintiff's motion for reconsideration was likewise ignored (R. pp. 1,117-1,200), and even though Nationstar had not yet filed an opposition, the court denied Plaintiff's motion for reconsideration by Order entered on November 6, 2013 (R. pp. 33-34), which brings us to Plaintiff's appeal of the adverse rulings in her case seeking reversal.

Plaintiff believes her legal rights to a trial and declaratory judgment on the merits of her case were prejudiced and denied without just cause and without due process. In addition, as a result of the court's actions, which emboldened Nationstar, Plaintiff is currently trying to defend herself against Nationstar's claim for attorney fees and costs in excess of \$47,000 in the bankruptcy court. Since Plaintiff is bankrupt and would be

unable to pay such a substantial judgment if awarded, Nationstar would likely foreclose on her home. (R. pp. 895-896; 965-973) Therefore, Plaintiff prays this Court will take that into consideration and carefully consider her appeal.

ARGUMENTS

- I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO FOLLOW THE LAW OF THE CASE THAT NATIONSTAR DID NOT HAVE STANDING TO MOVE TO DISMISS THE CASE AND OTHER PARTIES AND THE QUESTIONED TRANSFER OF THE INTEREST IN THE NOTE AND MORTGAGE SHOULD BE SUBJECT TO AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING.

U.S. Legal published an article online summarizing the “Law of the Case Doctrine,” and cited to three exceptions that may arise as follows: “[1] if the decision is clearly erroneous and enforcement would cause manifest injustice; [2] if intervening controlling authority makes reconsideration appropriate; or [3] if substantially different evidence was adduced at a later date.” The article cited to Sowder v. United States, 251 Fed. Appx. 444 (9th Cir. Wash. 2007) as the source of those exceptions. Plaintiff found this a helpful summary of what the exceptions to the law of the case doctrine are in other jurisdictions and offers it to this Court for consideration.

In consideration of those few exceptions, Nationstar did not produce anything concrete in support of its claims related to the instruments that justified the court overruling or ignoring the law of the case established by the court at the hearing on Nationstar’s motion to intervene (“the first hearing”). At the first hearing, the court found that Nationstar did not have standing to dismiss or be substituted for other parties or to file a motion to dismiss Plaintiff’s case and the questioned transfer of the interest should be subject to an evidentiary hearing and not done on a motion for intervention.

On the contrary, Nationstar's admissions in discovery proved Plaintiff was correct in the allegations she made while opposing its motion to intervene and that Nationstar had in fact lied to the courts in order to obtain permission to intervene and only admitted the truth after it received what it wanted from the court during the first hearing.

The note and interest in the instruments had not been transferred to Nationstar on or before the dates Plaintiff filed her bankruptcy and state cases, and in order to have standing to intervene and raise legal arguments in defense of her pending state court action, the note and interest in the instruments had to have been transferred to Nationstar on or before the date she filed the case. Plaintiff was proven correct that had not occurred by Nationstar's own subsequent admissions in discovery.

Plaintiff had carefully investigated, reviewed the documents available and believed the transfer had not occurred prior to filing her case. That is why Plaintiff did not sue Nationstar, she did not require it to defend an interest that is not its interest to defend, and she did not voluntarily grant Nationstar standing to defend or the right to prejudice her case with legal arguments it did not have standing to raise. Unfortunately, the court did that in failing to follow the law of the case it established at the first hearing.

Plaintiff repeatedly brought it to the court's attention, as the record shows, but the court kept refusing to acknowledge and address the fact Nationstar had falsely claimed ownership of the instruments before the courts, and its own subsequent admissions in discovery prove Nationstar knew it was not in possession of the note, it was not the holder and not the owner of the instruments on certain dates it had claimed otherwise before the courts to obtain permission to intervene. That being the case, Nationstar was

obviously estopped from asserting a different position, and arguably, counsel should have withdrawn from the action or the court should have dismissed Nationstar from the action *sua sponte* upon discovering Nationstar had lied to everyone to get what it wanted.

Nationstar's false claims of ownership of the instruments before the courts are summarized in a table attached as Exhibit 1 to Plaintiff's motion to dismiss Nationstar (R. pp. 910-911), and Nationstar's discovery responses are attached thereto as Exhibit 3 (R. pp. 918-935, and Plaintiff will provide only a few key pieces of evidence herein as follows.

In its Answer to Interrogatory No. 5, Nationstar stated, "Nationstar requested the original note from Fannie Mae's custodian, Bank of NY Mellon, and Nationstar received the original note from Bank of NY Mellon on May 31, 2012. Thereafter, Nationstar forwarded the original note to its counsel, Rogers Townsend & Thomas, PC." (R. pp. 919-920)

In its Answer to Interrogatory No. 8, Nationstar stated, "Fannie Mae is the owner of the note and mortgage. Fannie Mae's address and agent for service of process is of public record." (R. p. 920)

In its Answer to Interrogatory No. 12, asking whether Nationstar notified Fannie Mae regarding the contents of Plaintiff's Complaint, Nationstar stated, "Yes. Notification was sent to Bankruptcy.Administration@fanniemae.com on May 29, 2012." (R. p. 922)

In its Answer to Interrogatory No. 21, asking why the copy of the note Nationstar attached to its bankruptcy Form 10 claim form does not include a copy of Flagstar Bank's

purported endorsement in blank, Nationstar stated, “The endorsement is on the back of the original Note, and only the front of the Note was copied. [...]” (R. p. 926)

In its Answer to Interrogatory No. 25, asking how Nationstar obtained the copy of the note that is attached to its Form 10 claim form it submitted to the bankruptcy court, Nationstar stated, “The copy of the note was obtained from Nationstar’s imaging systems.” (R. p. 927)

In its Answer to Request to Admit No. 4, Nationstar stated, “[...] Nationstar admits [it] is not the custodian of the original note, but also admits it was the holder at the July 18, 2012 hearing. [...]” (R. p. 934)

In its Answer to Request to Admit No. 5, seeking an admission “that during the time period October 2009 to May 2012, the Bank of New York Mellon was at all times the custodian and in possession of the original note”, Nationstar stated, “Admit.” (R. p. 934)

In its Answer to Request to Admit No. 6, Nationstar stated, “[...] To the extent this Request is intended to request whether the first time Nationstar was in possession of the original note was May 2012, this Request is admitted. [...]” (R. p. 934)

In its Answer to Request to Admit No.7, Nationstar stated, “Nationstar objects to this Request to the extent that ‘true and correct copy of the original note’ is not defined. Nationstar admits the copy of the note attached to the proof of claim in Plaintiff’s bankruptcy did not include a copy of the back of the note” [where Flagstar’s alleged endorsement in blank was purportedly stamped on the note]. (R. p. 935)

The foregoing evidence is clear and convincing evidence of the following facts:

(a) Nationstar did not own the instruments on or before the dates Plaintiff filed her bankruptcy case on April 20, 2011 and her state case on April 6, 2012; (b) Nationstar did not have possession of the original note and therefore was not the holder on or before the dates the cases were filed; (c) all the rights in the instruments had not been transferred to Nationstar on or before the dates the cases were filed; and (d) Nationstar knew facts (a), (b), and (c) prior to stating or implying otherwise to the courts while trying to intervene.

Nationstar did not have the original note to copy and attach to its bankruptcy proof of claim that it filed on April 29, 2011 (R. pp. 228-250; 942-950), and since at that time Nationstar did not have Flagstar's note endorsement evidencing an assignment of the note from Flagstar to any party, Nationstar knew the note had not been assigned to Nationstar, and it was not the holder or owner of the note at that time. Nevertheless, Nationstar claimed it was the creditor in its bankruptcy proof of claim, which Plaintiff reasonably interpreted as Nationstar's first false claim of ownership of the note and mortgage. Nationstar's apparent intent to falsely claim ownership of the instruments before the bankruptcy court is further evidenced by its own subsequent false claims of ownership of the instruments before the state court to get what it wanted there.

Prior to the first hearing in July 2012, Nationstar claims it sent an email to Fannie Mae's bankruptcy department on May 29, 2012, and then requested and received the original note from Fannie Mae's custodian on May 31, 2012. Therefore, this also proves Nationstar knew prior to the first hearing that Fannie Mae was claiming to be the owner of the note and mortgage on or before the dates Plaintiff filed her bankruptcy and state cases, and Nationstar had intentionally lied claiming otherwise during the first hearing to

get what it wanted.

In addition, while Nationstar was in the process of intervening, Nationstar had submitted notices, pleadings and statements to the bankruptcy and state courts on May 9, 2012, and again at the hearing before the bankruptcy court on May 17, 2012, falsely claiming Nationstar was the current holder of the note when it knew it was not in possession of the original note on or before those dates. (R. pp. 425-430; 1,180, lines 22-25) In fact, Nationstar had not even contacted Fannie Mae or requested the original note on or before those dates.

If the court had simply followed the law of the case established during the first hearing, as Plaintiff was trying to do, the court would have permitted Plaintiff to add Fannie Mae as a defendant, serve Fannie Mae with the original complaint, grant Fannie Mae at least 30 days to answer prior to proceeding any further in the case, ordered Nationstar to answer some of the outstanding discovery requests Plaintiff was seeking, and eventually, the court would have held an evidentiary hearing to determine the merits of Nationstar's claims upon receipt of Plaintiff's motion seeking such determination.

Instead, the court entertained legal arguments Nationstar did not have standing to raise at the time and issued prejudicial, adverse findings in the Orders entered on February 27, 2013 and on April 9, 2013, which contributed to the adverse findings in the Orders entered on October 9, 2013 and on November 6, 2013. Ironically, Nationstar raised the "law of the case doctrine" argument against Plaintiff in its opposition to her motion to dismiss it from the action. (R. p. 1,034)

Unfortunately, the court ignored the fact that the court had already deviated from

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