THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM COLLETON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas 2012-CP-15-00262
The Honorable Maité Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-002555

MELISSA JEAN MARKS,Appellant,

Old South Mortgage Corporation, John Does v.
1-100, Nationstar Mortgage, LLC, Defendants,
Of whom Nationstar Mortgage, LLC, is

.....Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE, LLC

Robert A. Muckenfuss (SC Bar # 13903)
MCGUIREWOODS LLP
201 North Tryon Street, Suite 3000
Charlotte, North Carolina 28202
Telephone: (704) 343-2000
Facsimile: (704) 343-2300
rmuckenfuss@mcguirewoods.com

Elizabeth M.Z. Timmermans (SC Bar #
100288)
MCGUIREWOODS, LLP

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

ARGUMENT

This Court should uphold the Trial Court’s Orders granting Nationstar’s Motion for Summary Judgment and denying Plaintiff’s Motion to Dismiss Nationstar as an Intervening Party because Nationstar has a valid interest in the subject matter of the lawsuit, and Plaintiff’s claims fail as a matter of law.² Plaintiff’s claims fail for the following reasons: (1) judicial estoppel and res judicata bar Plaintiff’s claims; (2) Plaintiff suffered no damages from any alleged fraud, and the statute of limitations bars her fraud claim; and (3) the Note and Mortgage are valid and, as the loan servicer,

² While Plaintiff included the Trial Court’s Order Denying her Motion for Reconsideration in her Notice of Appeal, she does not raise any argument as to it in her Brief. (*See generally*, Plaintiff’s Final Br.) To the extent this Court concludes that Plaintiff did not waive any error in the Order Denying Reconsideration by failing to present any arguments on this point, this Court should affirm the Trial Court’s Order for the reasons presented herein in support of the other two orders listed in the Notice of Appeal.

Nationstar may enforce them. Finally, because this lawsuit affects Nationstar's interest under the Note and Mortgage, and because no other party to the action would protect this interest, the Trial Court properly denied Plaintiff's Motion to Dismiss Nationstar as an Intervening Party.

I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY GRANTED NATIONSTAR'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

A. *Res judicata bars Plaintiff's claims.*

As properly determined by the Trial Court, the doctrine of res judicata bars all of Plaintiff's claims in this State-Court Action. The doctrine of res judicata, or claim preclusion, prohibits "relitigating claims that were or could have been raised in [a prior] action." *Venture Eng'g v. Tishman Constr. Corp.*, 360 S.C. 156, 162, 600 S.E.2d 547, 550 (Ct. App. 2004). Res judicata applies where (1) the parties are identical or in privity with each other; (2) the claim in the second action arises from the same subject matter as the prior action; and (3) there was a final judgment on the merits in the prior action. *Id.* Section 1327 of the Bankruptcy Code sets forth "[t]he res judicata effect of a confirmed Chapter 13 plan on the debtor and creditors." *Nix v. Household Fin. Corp. (In re Nix)*, No. 10-01103-HB, Adv. No. 11-80062-HB, slip op., 2012 WL 27667, at *5 (Bankr. D.S.C. Jan. 5, 2012). Specifically, 11 U.S.C. § 1327(a) (2014) states that "[t]he provisions of a confirmed plan bind the debtor and each creditor, whether or not the claim of such creditor is provided for by the plan, and whether or not such creditor has objected to, has accepted, or has rejected the plan." *Id.* Consequently, if a party fails to raise a claim she could have raised prior to confirmation of the plan, she may not do so following confirmation of the plan. *In re Nix*, 2012 WL 27667, at *5 (citation omitted); *Varat Enters., Inc. v. Nelson, Mullins, Riley & Scarborough (In re Varat Enters)*, 81 F.3d

1310, 1315 (4th Cir. 1996) (“A bankruptcy court’s order of confirmation is treated as a final judgment with res judicata effect.”); *Snow v. Countrywide Home Loans, Inc.*, 270 B.R. 38, 41 (D. Md. 2001) (“It is well accepted that once a plan is confirmed, all questions which could have been raised pertaining to such plan are res judicata.” (quotation omitted)).

Here, all three elements of the res judicata doctrine are met. Plaintiff is a party to both the Bankruptcy Proceeding and the State-Court Action, and the claims in both matters arise from the same cause of action in that both concern the validity, enforceability, and amount of Plaintiff’s Mortgage. In addition, the Bankruptcy Court confirmed Plaintiff’s Chapter 13 plan on June 21, 2011, nearly one year before Plaintiff filed the State-Court Action, finding that Nationstar is the secured creditor entitled to receive payment on the Mortgage. *In re Marks*, No. 11-02169-jw, Doc. 12, Order Conf. Plan (Jun. 21, 2011). Under 11 U.S.C. § 1327(a), the confirmed plan is a final adjudication as to any and all claims Plaintiff could have raised against Nationstar prior to confirmation of the plan. *See In re Nix*, 2012 WL 27667, at *5; *In re Marks*, No. 11-02169-jw, Doc. 12.

Plaintiff’s Complaint essentially asks the State Court for cancellation of a debt already adjudicated by the Bankruptcy Court, and she claims she was unaware of her causes of action available to challenge the validity of the Note and Mortgage at the time she filed for bankruptcy protection, (*see* Pl.’s Final Br., at 31). Plaintiff’s State-Law Claims, however, relate to alleged infirmities during the Mortgage origination in 2007, the servicing transfer to Nationstar in 2009, and servicing activities by Nationstar in

2009, all known to her well before filing the Bankruptcy Proceeding.³ Nonetheless, Plaintiff did not disclose any claims relating to the Mortgage in her Chapter 13 schedules. Even assuming that Plaintiff was not aware of her allegations against Nationstar at the time of the Order confirming the Chapter 13 Bankruptcy Plan, the proper avenue for any claim would be an adversary proceeding in the Bankruptcy Court pursuant to the procedures set forth in the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure. *See, e.g.*, 11 U.S.C. § 1329 (2014) (noting procedures for modification of confirmed bankruptcy plan); 11 U.S.C. § 1330 (2014) (allowing revocation of order of confirmation if procured by fraud); FED. R. BANKR. P. 3007(b), 7001, *et seq.* In essence, Plaintiff is using this Court in an attempt to seek remedies against Nationstar that are reserved for the federal bankruptcy court as a direct result of her seeking bankruptcy relief.

The Trial Court correctly held that the doctrine of res judicata bars all of Plaintiff's claims in this State-Court Action. This Court should affirm the Trial Court's grant of summary judgment.

B. Judicial estoppel bars Plaintiff's claims.

"Judicial estoppel is an equitable concept that prevents a litigant from asserting a position inconsistent with, or in conflict with, one the litigant has previously asserted in the same or related proceeding." *Cothran v. Brown*, 357 S.C. 210, 215, 592 S.E.2d 629, 631 (2004). Judicial estoppel applies where there are: (1) two inconsistent positions taken by the same party; (2) the positions are taken in the same or related proceedings; (3) the party taking the position succeeded in maintaining that position, and obtained a benefit by it; (4) the inconsistency is part of an intentional effort to mislead the court; and

³ The only post-petition allegations against Nationstar relate to the alleged denial of access to Nationstar's online banking website after the filing of Plaintiff's bankruptcy petition. (R. pp. 43-51 ¶¶ 32-66.) These allegations are entirely irrelevant to the causes of actions that Plaintiff alleges relating to fraud at the origination of her Mortgage and the validity and enforceability of her Mortgage.

(5) the two positions are totally inconsistent. *Auto-Owners Ins. Co. v. Rhodes*, 405 S.C. 584, 598, 748 S.E.2d 781, 788 (2013).

In the bankruptcy context, judicial estoppel specifically prevents a debtor who fails to disclose a claim in the bankruptcy proceeding from later taking advantage of that claim in a separate action against a creditor. *Abraham v. Bank of Am., N.A. (In re Abraham)*, No. 10-05354-jw, Adv. No. 10-80118-jw, slip op., 2010 WL 5437253, at *3 (Bankr. D.S.C. Sep. 20, 2010) (applying judicial estoppel to prevent state-law claims where debtor did not identify causes of action against creditor on its Chapter 13 schedules); *In re Nix*, 2012 WL 27667, at *5 (holding that a failure to raise an available claim prior to confirmation of the bankruptcy plan precludes raising the claim after the plan's confirmation.).

Indeed “a debtor’s failure to satisfy her statutory disclosure duty is inadvertent ‘only when, in general, the debtor *either lacks knowledge of the undisclosed claims or has no motive for their concealment.*” *Wright v. Guess*, No. 3:08-4130-JFA, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 5532, at *6 (D.S.C. Jan. 25, 2010) (unpublished) (quoting *In re Coastal Plains*, 179 F.3d 197, 210 (5th Cir. 1999)) (emphasis added). The second prong of this disjunctive test, motive to conceal, may be inferred where a “plaintiff’s disclosure of her lawsuit in her bankruptcy petition could have increased the amount of her assets, resulting in a less-favorable Chapter 13 plan.” *Id.*; *In re Family Dollar FLSA Litigation*, Nos. 3:08-cv-110, 3:07-cv-501, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 119281, at *18 (W.D.N.C. Oct. 14, 2011) (unpublished). Moreover,

[t]he debtor need not know all of the facts or even the legal basis for the cause of action; rather, if the debtor has enough information prior to confirmation to suggest that it may have a possible cause of action, then it is a “known” cause of action that must be disclosed.

In re Family Dollar, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 119281, at *19 (quoting *Gaskins v. Thousand Trails, LP*, 521 F. Supp. 2d 693, 696 (S.D. Ohio 2007)) (internal quotation omitted). Failure to disclose the claim in the bankruptcy proceeding precludes the debtor from later capitalizing on it. *In re Nix*, 2012 WL 27667, at *5; see 11 U.S.C. § 541(a)(1) (2014).

Again, the Bankruptcy Court confirmed Plaintiff's Chapter 13 plan on June 21, 2011, nearly one year before Plaintiff filed the State-Court Action, finding that Nationstar is the secured creditor entitled to receive payment on the Mortgage. Rather than challenging the validity of the Mortgage in her pending Bankruptcy Proceeding, Plaintiff sought to sidestep the federal requirements governing her claims and file a separate State-Court Action asking this Court to provide relief relating to the Mortgage and to exclude Nationstar from being able to defend against her allegations. Furthermore, Plaintiff's material allegations relate to origination and servicing claims occurring between 2007 and 2009, (*see, e.g.*, R. pp. 39–43 ¶¶ 12, 19, 28–29), providing her with “enough information prior to confirmation to suggest that [she] may have a possible cause of action,” *In re Family Dollar*, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 119281, at *19. As a result, Plaintiff's cause of action was a “known” cause of action that must be disclosed to the Bankruptcy Court. Finally, by bringing State-Law Claims in which she seeks to avoid the Mortgage, and thus increase the value of her assets, Plaintiff artificially reduced the value of her assets in the Bankruptcy Proceeding, impairing her creditors' ability to recover and establishing a clear motive for concealment of her claims. See 11 U.S.C. § 541(a)(1) (The bankruptcy estate is “comprised of . . . [a]ll legal or equitable interests of the debtor.”).

Because Plaintiff failed to disclose the allegations underlying her State-Law Claims in her Bankruptcy Proceeding and the Bankruptcy Court already held the Mortgage to be valid and enforceable, judicial estoppel bars Plaintiff from asking this Court to invalidate the Mortgage. Therefore, the Court should affirm the Trial Court's grant of summary judgment.

C. *The Trial Court properly granted summary judgment on Plaintiff's fraud claim because she cannot establish damages, and the statute of limitations bars her claim.*

Under South Carolina law, a plaintiff must show by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence, all of the following to recover for fraud: (1) a representation; (2) its falsity; (3) its materiality; (4) knowledge or reckless disregard of its falsity; (5) intent that the representation be acted upon; (6) the hearer's ignorance of its falsity; (7) the hearer's reliance on its truth; (8) the hearer's right to rely on its truth; and (9) the hearer's proximate injury. *First State Savings & Loan v. Phelps*, 299 S.C. 441, 446-47, 385 S.E.2d 821, 824 (1989). A fraud claim cannot succeed unless it alleges the elements of fraud with particularity. *See* Rule 9(b), SCRCP. Moreover, "[f]ailure to prove any element of fraud is fatal to the action." *Sorin Equip. Co. v. The Firm, Inc.*, 323 S.C. 359, 366, 474 S.E.2d 819, 823 (Ct. App. 1996) (citations omitted).

As the Trial Court properly determined, Plaintiff has failed to establish any alleged damages from fraud relating to the origination of the Mortgage. While Plaintiff's fraud allegations remain unclear, Plaintiff appears to allege that the Mortgage is fraudulent because it identifies Old South as the lender, but that Old South subsequently transferred the Mortgage ownership and servicing rights of the Mortgage. Without conceding that Plaintiff's Complaint pleads a cause of action for any of the elements of fraud, Plaintiff cannot show any injury as a result of any alleged fraud because, as the

Trial Court held, she received all that she bargained for under the terms of the Note and Mortgage. Plaintiff received the loan proceeds after the October 5, 2007 closing, which she used to purchase the Property. She does not allege that she paid Nationstar (or any other party) any amounts other than those due under the Note. It is inconsequential that Flagstar, and not Old South, funded the loan because Plaintiff does not dispute that she actually received the money. Moreover, Plaintiff knew that Flagstar, and not Old South, would service the loan. (R. p. 41 ¶ 21; R. p. 187) Additionally, Plaintiff is current on her mortgage payments, and Nationstar has not attempted to foreclose on the Mortgage. Thus, she cannot show any harm to her from any alleged fraud.

In addition, the statute of limitations prevents Plaintiff from recovering on her fraud claim. The statute of limitations for fraud is three years. S.C. CODE ANN. §§ 15-3-530(5); 15-3-535 (2014). On or about October 5, 2007, Plaintiff executed the loan closing documents, including the Notice of Transfer of Loan Servicing Rights, informing her that Old South would assign the Mortgage to Flagstar. (R. pp. 94–108; R. pp. 142–43) She also admits receiving a “First Payment Letter” on or about October 5, 2007 informing her that Flagstar would service the Mortgage. (R. p. 41 ¶ 21; R. p. 187) Thus, it is undisputed that Plaintiff discovered the alleged origination issues that form the basis for her fraud claim in 2007. The statute of limitations on this claim elapsed long before she filed her Complaint in April 2012.

Because Plaintiff’s fraud claim fails as a matter of law, the Court should uphold the Trial Court’s grant of summary judgment and dismiss Plaintiff’s fraud claim.

D. *The Trial Court correctly concluded that the Note and Mortgage are valid and that Nationstar may enforce them.*

Plaintiff contends that “there are no lawful owners” of the Note and that Nationstar cannot enforce the Note because it does not own the Note. (Pl.’s Final Br., at 2.) However, a party may enforce a negotiable instrument even if it “is not the owner of the instrument.” S.C. CODE ANN. § 36-3-301 (2014) (codified from Article 3 of the Uniform Commercial Code); see *Midfirst Bank, SSB v. C.W. Haynes & Co.*, 893 F. Supp. 1304, 1312 (D.S.C. 1994) (holding that Uniform Commercial Code Article 3 applies to assignments of mortgage notes). Rather, any of the following persons may enforce a promissory note: (1) the holder of the note; (2) a non-holder in possession of the instrument who has rights of a holder; or (3) a party who once had possession of a now lost instrument. S.C. CODE ANN. § 36-3-301. A mortgage servicer is “a real party in interest” with the power to enforce a mortgage. *Bank of Am., N.A. v. Draper*, 405 S.C. 214, 222–23, 746 S.E.2d 478, 482 (2013).

An assignee of a mortgage “stands in the shoes of the assignor,” and has the same right to enforce the mortgage as the assignor. *BAC Home Loan Servicing, LP v. Kinder*, 398 S.C. 619, 624, 731 S.E.2d 547, 549 (2012) (citing *Moore v. Weinberg*, 373 S.C. 209, 220, 644 S.E.2d 740, 745 (Ct. App. 2007)). “[T]he assignment of a mortgage does not need to be recorded, and failure to do so has no effect on the rights of the assignee.” *Id.* at 623, 731 S.E.2d at 549; *Singleton v. Singleton*, 60 S.C. 216, 235, 38 S.E. 462, 469 (1901) (“Notice to a mortgagor of the assignment of a mortgage is not necessary to its validity.” (quotation omitted)). Instead, a mortgage simply follows the note. *Union Nat’l Bank of Columbia v. Cook*, 110 S.C. 99, 96 S.E. 484, 486 (1918).

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